

JRC SCIENCE FOR POLICY REPORT

Marine Strategy Framework Directive Descriptor 2, Non-Indigenous Species

Delivering solid recommendations for setting threshold values for non-indigenous species pressure on European seas

2021

Tsiamis Konstantinos, Palialexis Andreas, Connor David, Antoniadis Stavros, Bartilotti Cátia, Bartolo G. Angela, Berggreen Ulrik Christian, Boschetti Simona, Buschbaum Christian, Canning-Clode João, Carbonell Aina, Castriota Luca, Corbeau Clemence, Costa Ana, Cvitković Ivan, Despalatović Marija, Dragičević Branko, Dulčić Jakov, Fortič Ana, Francé Janja, Gittenberger Arjan, Gizzi Francesca, Gollasch Stephan, Gruszka Piotr, Hegarty Mary, Hema Tatjana, Jensen Kathe, Josephides Marios, Kabuta Saa, Kerckhof Francis, Kovtun-Kante Anastasiia, Krakau Manuela, Kraśniewski Wojciech, Lackschewitz Dagmar, Lehtiniemi Maiju, Lieberum Christian, Linnamägi Merike, Lipej Lovrenc, Livi Silvia, Lundgreen Kim, Magliozzi Chiara, Massé Cécile, Mavrič Borut, Michailidis Nikolas, Moncheva Snejana, Mozetič Patricija, Naddafi Rahmat, Ninčević Gladan Živana, Ojaveer Henn, Olenin Sergej, Orlando-Bonaca Martina, Ouerghi Atef, Parente Manuela, Pavlova Petya, Peterlin Monika, Pitacco Valentina, Png-Gonzalez Lydia, Rousou Maria, Sala-Pérez Manuel, Serrano Alberto, Skorupski Jakub, Smolders Sander, Srebaliene Greta, Stæhr Peter Anton, Stefanova Kremena, Strake Solvita, Tabarcea Cristina, Todorova Valentina, Trkov Domen, Tuaty-Guerra Miriam, Vidjak Olja, Zenetos Argyro, Žuljević Ante, Cardoso Ana Cristina



This publication is a Science for Policy report by the Joint Research Centre (JRC), the European Commission's science and knowledge service. It aims to provide evidence-based scientific support to the European policymaking process. The scientific output expressed does not imply a policy position of the European Commission. Neither the European Commission nor any person acting on behalf of the Commission is responsible for the use that might be made of this publication. For information on the methodology and quality underlying the data used in this publication for which the source is neither Eurostat nor other Commission services, users should contact the referenced source. The designations employed and the presentation of material on the maps do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the European Union concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

Contact information

Name: Ana Cristina Cardoso Address: Via E. Fermi 2749 Email: ana-cristina.cardoso@ec.europa.eu Tel.: +39 0332 785702

EU Science Hub

https://ec.europa.eu/jrc

JRC124136

EUR 30640 EN

PDF ISBN 978-92-76-32257-3

ISSN 1831-9424

doi:10.2760/035071

Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union, 2021

© European Union, 2021



The reuse policy of the European Commission is implemented by the Commission Decision 2011/833/EU of 12 December 2011 on the reuse of Commission documents (OJ L 330, 14.12.2011, p. 39). Except otherwise noted, the reuse of this document is authorised under the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International (CC BY 4.0) licence (<u>https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/</u>). This means that reuse is allowed provided appropriate credit is given and any changes are indicated. For any use or reproduction of photos or other material that is not owned by the EU, permission must be sought directly from the copyright holders.

All content © European Union, 2021

How to cite this report:

Tsiamis K, Palialexis A, Connor D, Antoniadis S, Bartilotti C, Bartolo G.A, Berggreen UC, Boschetti S, Buschbaum C, Canning-Clode J, Carbonell A, Castriota L, Corbeau C, Costa A, Cvitković I, Despalatović M, Dragičević B, Dulčić J, Fortič A, Francé J, Gittenberger A, Gizzi F, Gollasch S, Gruszka P, Hegarty M, Hema T, Jensen K, Josephides M, Kabuta S, Kerckhof F, Kovtun-Kante A, Krakau M, Kraśniewski W, Lackschewitz D, Lehtiniemi M, Lieberum C, Linnamägi M, Lipej L, Livi S, Lundgreen K, Magliozzi C, Massé C, Mavrič B, Michailidis N, Moncheva S, Mozetič P, Naddafi R, Ninčević Gladan Z, Ojaveer H, Olenin S, Orlando-Bonaca M, Ouerghi A, Parente M, Pavlova P, Peterlin M, Pitacco V, Png-Gonzalez L, Rousou M, Sala-Pérez M, Serrano A, Skorupski J, Smolders S, Srebaliene G, Stæhr PA, Stefanova K, Strake S, Tabarcea C, Todorova V, Trkov D, Tuaty-Guerra M, Vidjak O, Zenetos A, Žuljević A, Cardoso AC, *Marine Strategy Framework Directive- Descriptor 2, Non-Indigenous Species, Delivering solid recommendations for setting threshold values for non-indigenous species pressure on European seas*, EUR 30640 EN, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, 2021, ISBN 978-92-76-32257-3, doi:10.2760/035071, JRC124136.

Contents

Abstract	2
Acknowledgements	3
Executive summary	5
1 Introduction	6
2 Work approach	8
3 Outcomes of the workshop	
4 Conclusions	
References	
List of abbreviations and definitions	23
List of boxes	24
List of figures	25
List of tables	
Annexes	27

Abstract

Marine Non-Indigenous Species (NIS) are animals and plants introduced accidently or deliberately into the European seas, originating from other seas of the globe. About 800 marine non-indigenous species (NIS) currently occur in the European Union national marine waters, several of which have negative impacts on marine ecosystem services and biodiversity. Under the Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD) Descriptor 2 (D2), EU Member States (MSs) need to consider NIS in their marine management strategies. The Descriptor D2 includes one primary criterion (D2C1: new NIS introductions), and two secondary criteria (D2C2 and D2C3). The D2 implementation is characterized by a number of issues and uncertainties which can be applicable to the Descriptor level (e.g. geographical unit of assessment, assessment period, phytoplanktonic, parasitic, oligohaline NIS, etc.), to the primary criterion D2C1 level (e.g. threshold values, cryptogenic, questionable species, etc), and to the secondary criteria D2C2 and D2C3. The current report tackles these issues and provides practical recommendations aiming at a smoother and more efficient implementation of D2 and its criteria at EU level. They constitute a solid operational output which can result in more comparable D2 assessments among MSs and MSFD regions/subregions. When it comes to the policy-side, the current report calls for a number of different categories of NIS to be reported in D2 assessments, pointing the need for the species to be labelled/categorised appropriately in the MSFD reporting by the MSs. These suggestions are proposed to be communicated to the MSFD Working Group of Good Environmental Status (GES) and subsequently to the Marine Strategy Coordination Group (MSCG) of MSFD. Moreover, they can serve as an input for revising the Art. 8 Guidelines.

Acknowledgements

The authors wish to thank Spyridon Flevaris (DG ENV), Juan Perez Lorenzo (DG ENV), and Jann Martinsohn (DG JRC) for their contributions during the online workshop.

Authors

Tsiamis Konstantinos^{JRC}, Palialexis Andreas^{JRC}, Connor David^{ENV}, Antoniadis Stavros^{UNEP}, Bartilotti Cátia^{PT1,PT2}, Bartolo G. Angela^{MT}, Berggreen Ulrik Christian^{DK2}, Boschetti Simona^{JRC}, Buschbaum Christian^{DE1}, Canning-Clode João^{PT4,PT5}, Carbonell Aina^{ES1}, Castriota Luca^{IT1}, Corbeau Clemence^{FR}, Costa Ana^{PT3}, Cvitković Ivan^{HR}, Despalatović Marija^{HR}, Dragičević Branko^{HR}, Dulčić Jakov^{HR}, Fortič Ana^{SI}, Francé Janja^{SI}, Gittenberger Arjan^{NL3}, Gizzi Francesca^{PT4}, Gollasch Stephan^{DE2}, Gruszka Piotr^{PL2}, Hegarty Mary^{IE}, Hema Tatjana^{UNEP}, Jensen Kathe^{DK3}, Josephides Marios^{CY}, Kabuta Saa^{NL1}, Kerckhof Francis^{BE}, Kovtun-Kante Anastasiia^{EE3}, Krakau Manuela^{DE4}, Kraśniewski Wojciech^{PL1}, Lackschewitz Dagmar^{DE1}, Lehtiniemi Maiju^{FI}, Lieberum Christian^{DE3}, Linnamägi Merike^{EE1}, Lipej Lovrenc^{SI}, Livi Silvia^{IT2}, Lundgreen Kim^{DK2}, Magliozzi Chiara^{JRC}, Massé Cécile^{FR}, Mavrič Borut^{SI}, Michailidis Nikolas^{CY}, Moncheva Snejana^{BG}, Mozetič Patricija^{SI}, Naddafi Rahmat^{SE}, Ninčević Gladan Živana^{HR}, Ojaveer Henn^{EE2}, Olenin Sergej^{LT}, Orlando-Bonaca Martina^{SI}, Ouerghi Atef^{SPA}, Parente Manuela^{PT3}, Pavlova Petya^{BG}, Peterlin Monika^{EEA}, Pitacco Valentina^{SI}, Png-Gonzalez Lydia^{E51}, Rousou Maria^{CY}, Sala-Pérez Manuel^{HEL}, Serrano Alberto^{E52}, Skorupski Jakub^{INT}, Smolders Sander^{NL2}, Srebaliene Greta^{LT}, Stæhr Peter Anton^{DK1}, Stefanova Kremena^{BG}, Strake Solvita^{LV}, Tabarcea Cristina^{R0}, Todorova Valentina^{BG}, Trkov Domen^{SI}, Tuaty-Guerra Miriam^{PT1,PT2}, Vidjak Olja^{HR}, Zenetos Argyro^{EL}, Žuljević Ante^{HR}, Cardoso Ana Cristina^{JRC}

BE: Royal Belgian Institute of Natural Sciences, Operational Directorate Natural Environment, Marine Ecology and Management, Oostende, Belgium

BG: Institute of Oceanology – Bulgarian Academy of Sciences (IO-BAS), Varna, Bulgaria

CY: Department of Fisheries and Marine Research (DFMR), Ministry of Agriculture, Rural Development and the Environment of Cyprus

DE1: Alfred Wegener Institute Helmholtz Centre for Polar and Marine Research (AWI), List/Sylt, Germany

DE2: GoConsult, Hamburg, Germany

- DE3: GEOMAR Helmholtz-Centre for Ocean Research Kiel, Kiel, Germany
- DE4: German Environment Agency (UBA), Dessau-Rosslau, Germany
- DK1: Aarhus University, Danish Centre for Environment And Energy, Denmark
- DK2: Danish Environmental Protection Agency
- DK3: University of Copenhagen, Denmark
- EE1: Nature Conservation Department, Ministry of Environment, Tallinn, Estonia
- EE2: University of Tartu, Pärnu, Estonia
- EE3: Estonian Environment Agency, Tallinn, Estonia
- EEA: European Environment Agency

EL: Hellenic Centre for Marine Reasearch, 46.7 km Athens-Sounio Avenue, 19013 Anavyssos, Greece

ENV: European Commission, DG Environment, Brussels, Belgium

ES1: Instituto Español de Oceanografía, Centro Oceanográfico de Baleares, Muelle de Poniente s/n, 07015 Palma de Mallorca, Spain

ES2: Instituto Español de Oceanografía (IEO)

FI: Finnish Environment Institute, Marine Reseach Centre, Latokartanonkaari 11, 00790 Helsinki. Finland

FR: UMS Patrimoine Naturel (PATRINAT) OFB, CNRS, MNHN, CP41, 36 rue Geoffroy Saint-Hilaire, 75005 Paris, France

HEL: Baltic Marine Environment Protection Commission (HELCOM), Helsinki, Finland

HR: Institute of Oceanography and Fisheries (IOF), Split, Croatia

IE: Department of Housing, Local Government and Heritage, 1A South Mall, Cork, Ireland

INT: University of Szczecin, Szczecin, Poland; Coalition Clean Baltic, Uppsala, Sweden

IT1: Institute for Environmental Protection and Research (ISPRA), BIO-CIT, Lungomare Cristoforo Colombo n. 4521 (ex complesso Roosevelt) Località Addaura, 90149 Palermo, Italy

IT2: Institute for Environmental Protection and Research (ISPRA), BIO-AMC, via Vitaliano Brancati 60, 00144 Rome, Italy

JRC: European Commission, Joint Research Centre (JRC), Ispra, Italy

LT: Klaipėda University, Marine research institute, Klaipėda, Lithuania

LV: Latvian Institute of Aquatic Ecology, Voleru street 4, LV 1048, Riga, Latvia

MT: Environment & Resources Authority, Malta

NL1: Rijkswaterstaat, Netherlands Ministry of Infrastructure and Water Management

NL2: Office of Risk Assessment and Research (BuRO),Unit Risk Assessment | Team Invasive Species Netherlands Food and Consumer Product Safety Authority (NVWA), *Ministry of Agriculture, Nature and Food Quality*

NL3: GiMaRIS Marine Research, Inventory & Strategy solutions, Sassenheim, the Netherlands

PL1: Institute of Meteorology and Water Management, National Research Institute, Poland

PL2: Gdynia Maritime University, Maritime Institute, Gdynia, Poland

PT1: Portuguese Institute for the Sea and Atmosphere, I. P. – IPMA, Av. Alfredo Magalhães Ramalho, 6, 1495-165, Algés, Portugal.

PT2: CIIMAR - Interdisciplinary Centre of Marine and Environmental Research, Terminal de Cruzeiros de Leixões, Av. General Norton de Matos, S/N, 4450-208 Matosinhos, Portugal.

PT3: CIBIO - Center for Research on Biodiversity and Genetic Resources, InBio Associate Laboratory, University of the Azores, Ponta Delgada, Portugal

PT4: MARE - Marine and Environmental Sciences Centre, Agência Regional para o Desenvolvimento da Investigação, Tecnologia e Inovação (ARDITI), Funchal, Madeira, Portugal

PT5: Smithsonian Environmental Research Center, Edgewater, Maryland, USA

RO: National Institute Marine Research and Development "Grigore Antipa", Constanta, Romania

SE: Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Aquatic Resources, Division of Coastal Research, Öregrund, Sweden

SI: Marine Biology Station Piran, National Institute of Biology, Piran, Slovenia

SPA: UNEP-MAP-Specially Protected Areas/Regional Activity Centre

UNEP: UNEP/MAP - Barcelona Convention Secretariat

Executive summary

There are currently about 800 marine non-indigenous species (NIS) in the European Union (EU) national marine waters, several of which have negative impacts on marine ecosystem services and biodiversity. To address the risks they pose, the Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD) requires EU Member States (MSs) to consider NIS in their marine management strategies.

Policy context

NIS are treated as a distinct Descriptor (D2) of Good Environmental Status (GES) of the MSFD: "*Non-indigenous species introduced by human activities are at levels that do not adversely alter the ecosystem*". The Descriptor D2 includes one primary criterion (D2C1: new NIS introductions), and two secondary criteria, dealing with the abundance and spatial distribution of NIS (D2C2), and their adverse effects on particular indigenous species groups and broad habitat types (D2C3).

The MSFD Common Implementation Strategy (CIS) Working Group on GES has the mandate to develop common approaches for assessing the environmental status of marine waters and setting of environmental targets, in order to ensure coherence and consistency of GES across all marine regions/ subregions. The work relevant to D2 is carried by national appointed experts under the coordination of JRC.

Key conclusions

The current report provides practical recommendations aiming at a smoother and more efficient implementation of D2 and its criteria at EU level. They constitute a solid operational output which can result in D2 assessments with more comparable data among MSs and MSFD regions/subregions. In addition, they call for a number of different categories of NIS to be reported in D2 assessments, pointing the need for the species to be labelled/categorised appropriately in the MSFD reporting by the MSs. Finally, the establishment of a high-level group concerning D2 is proposed streamlining the EU level marine NIS work.

Main findings

The D2 implementation is characterized by a number of issues and uncertainties. These issues can be applicable to the Descriptor level (e.g. geographical unit of assessment, assessment period, phytoplanktonic, parasitic, oligohaline NIS, etc.), to the primary criterion D2C1 level (e.g. threshold values, cryptogenic, questionable species, etc), and to the secondary criteria D2C2 and D2C3. The current report tackles these issues in a consistent way as possible, trying to find the optimum balance between scientifically acceptable standards and practical solutions with a policy perspective.

In addition, information was gathered regarding the date of first record of each NIS in each MS and MSFD subregion, as well as its related pathway of introduction. This dataset can support the process towards the establishment of the threshold values for D2C1 (i.e. the number of new introductions of NIS per 6-year period which is set as the GES threshold).

Related and future JRC work

The recommendations of the current report are proposed to be communicated to the MSFD Working Group GES and subsequently to the Marine Strategy Coordination Group (MSCG) of MSFD. Moreover, they can serve as an input for revising the Art. 8 Guidelines.

Quick guide

Marine Non-Indigenous Species (NIS) are animals and plants introduced accidently or deliberately into the European seas, originating from other seas of the globe. They constitute one of the most important threats to biodiversity, causing severe ecological and socio-economic impacts. Under the Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD) Descriptor 2 (D2), MSs need to consider NIS in their marine management strategies. The D2 implementation is characterized by a number of issues (e.g. geographical unit of assessment, assessment period, threshold values, cryptogenic, species, etc.). The current report tackles these issues, and provides practical solutions aiming at a smoother and more efficient implementation of the MSFD D2 and its criteria at EU level. The recommendations of the current report are proposed to be communicated to the MSFD Working Group GES.

1 Introduction

1.1. Policy context

The Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD; EU 2008, 2010, 2017) aims to achieve Good Environmental Status (GES) of the European Union (EU) marine waters and to protect the resource base upon which marine-related economic and social activities depend. The Directive enshrines in a legislative framework the ecosystem approach to the management of human activities having an impact on the marine environment, integrating the concepts of environmental protection and sustainable use.

The MSFD interlinks with the new EU Biodiversity Strategy for 2030 (EU 2020), which aims to strengthen the protection of marine ecosystems, including through the expansion of protected areas and the establishment of strictly protected areas for habitats and fish stocks recovery. It stresses the need for an ecosystem-based approach to the management of human activities at sea.

To help EU countries achieve GES, the MSFD sets out 11 Descriptors. In addition, the Directive follows an adaptive management approach, and thus it must be kept up-to-date and reviewed every 6 years.

The MSFD requires from EU Member States (MSs) detailed and coordinated input. In order to facilitate this work, MSs and the European Commission have set up an informal programme of coordination, the Common Implementation Strategy (CIS).

In the frame of the MSFD CIS, the Marine Strategy Coordination Group (MSCG) of MSFD, chaired by the European Commission, is responsible for overseeing the implementation of the Directive. The group is composed of representatives of EU MSs authorities responsible for the implementation of MSFD at national level, and stakeholder organizations.

A sub-group of the MSCG is the Working Group on Good Environmental Status (WG GES), which oversees technical work on issues related to the assessment and determination of GES, the related environmental targets and indicators, and the monitoring obligations. It provides a platform for expert exchange at EU level between the MSs, other countries and stakeholders including the related ongoing work of the Regional Sea Conventions (RSCs). The WG GES is there to advise the MSCG on matters related to GES. Participants to WG GES are nominated representatives of the MSs, other countries (in particular Candidate Countries), RSCs and other international organisations.

The MSFD Working Group on GES has the mandate (CIS work programme 2020-2022) to develop common approaches for assessing the environmental status of marine waters and setting of environmental targets in order to ensure coherence and consistency of GES across all marine regions/ subregions. The work relevant to D2 is carried by national appointed experts under the coordination of JRC.

1.2. The role of the Joint Research Centre in MSFD

When it comes to MSFD, the Joint Research Centre (JRC), the European Commission's in-house science service, aims to share harmonised marine policy and science information, and to provide the MSFD Common Implementation Strategy with up-to-date scientific knowledge. The JRC has established the MSFD Competence Centre (MCC) which responds to needs and requests identified by the MSFD WG GES and the MSCG.

The activities of the MCC are linked to the development and implementation process of the MSFD. The MCC also acts as a science-policy interface, and provides a platform for sharing knowledge and scientific expertise on different MSFD-related themes, including assessment methods, and monitoring and modelling tools. In this context, MCC activities seek to ensure that proper advice is given to policy developers for improved implementation of the MSFD.

The JRC is working toward the identification of methodological approaches to monitoring for MSFD Descriptors 1, 2, 5, 7, 8, 9 and 10, with a view to proposing standardised methods for monitoring and identifying aspects which need further harmonisation between MSs to improve the consistency of monitoring data.

1.3. Background on non-indigenous species

At least 800 marine non-indigenous species (NIS) currently occur in the EU national marine waters (Tsiamis et al., 2019), several of which exhibit invasive behavior and have negative impacts on marine ecosystem services

and biodiversity (Katsanevakis et al. 2014; Ojaveer et al. 2015). To address the risks they pose, the MSFD requires MSs to consider NIS in their marine management strategies with the aim to reach GES.

NIS are treated as a distinct Descriptor (D2) of GES in the context of the MSFD (EU 2017): "*Non-indigenous species introduced by human activities are at levels that do not adversely alter the ecosystem*". The Descriptor D2 includes one primary criterion (D2C1), based on which "*The number of non-indigenous species which are newly introduced via human activity into the wild, per assessment period (6 years), measured from the reference year as reported for the initial assessment under Article* 8(1) *of Directive 2008/56/EC, is minimised and where possible reduced to zero. MSs shall establish the threshold value for the number of new introductions of non-indigenous species, through regional or subregional cooperation*". There are also two secondary criteria for D2 (EU 2017), dealing with the abundance and spatial distribution of NIS, particularly of the invasive ones (criterion D2C2), and their adverse effects on particular indigenous species groups and broad habitat types (criterion D2C3).

The environmental status of the EU national marine waters in the context of the MSFD was assessed by the MSs as part of the reporting obligations linked to the MSFD initial assessment, for most MSs in 2012. In that context, lists of NIS were reported at national level by each MS. Analysis of these lists revealed important knowledge and data gaps, vague definitions, significant differences on the level of detail and focus of the approach followed by each MS, pointing to the need for common standards (Palialexis et al., 2014; Srebaliene et al., 2019).

Recently, Tsiamis et al. (2019) provided refined baseline inventories (hereafter referred to as baselines) of NIS per MS: marine NIS reported in each EU country and related MSFD marine subregion by the end of 2011. The inventories were based on the initial assessment of the MSFD and existing updated data, in collaboration with NIS experts appointed by the MSs. This work highlighted the uncertainty on the non-indigenous status of several species across EU marine waters, and the need for further harmonization and coherent implementation of MSFD D2, in relation to NIS baselines, monitoring, and thresholds.

The refined baselines constitute the basis for the assessment of the primary criterion D2C1, allowing for the determination of the number of new introductions subsequent to 2012 per MS and MSFD subregion. In addition, the refined inventories of NIS can support the process towards the establishment of the threshold values for D2C1 (i.e. the number of new introductions of NIS per 6-year period which is set as the GES threshold), through the information related with the time trends of the listed NIS introductions and their associated pathways.

During 2019-2020, MSs have, in response to their 2018 "reporting" obligations, reported on MSFD D2 information for the last 6-year MSFD reporting cycle, following the Article 17 requirements to update their Articles 8, 9 and 10 reports. By September 2020, 20 MSs had reported on D2 in electronic format, which was assessed by Tsiamis et al. (report under review). The latter assessment highlights gaps in setting threshold values for the D2 criteria, and a number of inconsistencies in D2 implementation, including the spatial and time coverage of D2 application among the MSs. The JRC's recent work on MSFD D2 aims to tackle these issues, and generally provide support in the implementation of the Descriptor.

1.4. Recent work of the JRC on non-indigenous species

The JRC initiated in 2019 an activity aiming to analyze the trends of new NIS introductions per MS and MSFD marine subregion and their associated pathways. The overall goal was to develop recommendations for setting threshold values for D2C1. Towards this goal, relevant information was gathered regarding the date of first record of each NIS in each MS and MSFD subregion, as well as its related pathway of introduction. Appointed national experts by the MSs and representatives of the RSCs were invited to participate in this task and the subsequent analysis, which included a related workshop. Other relevant Stakeholders were also invited to attend the workshop.

The NIS thresholds workshop was held online on 6-7 October 2020. In order to facilitate the workshop's deliberation and its effectiveness a related questionnaire, based on a preliminary analysis of the data previously gathered, was distributed among the NIS national experts' and to all Stakeholders prior to the workshop. The results of the questionnaires were summarized and discussed during the workshop.

1.5. Aim of the report

The task on NIS data gathering, the questionnaires and the workshop aimed to facilitate discussions at the national, regional and inter-regional level for making progress on the implementation of D2. A particular objective was to assess the primary criterion D2C1 and its threshold values for the number of new NIS introductions for each MS and MSFD subregion.

The final outcome achieved through the Workshop provides a number of recommendations for the overall implementation of D2. These recommendations aim to efficiently tackle D2 application issues in a consistent way among EU MSs and it is proposed to be reported to the MSFD Working Group GES and to MSCG. The target-audience of the report includes the members of these two groups (nominated representatives of the MSs), scientists working on MSFD D2 and generally on marine NIS, as well as policy-makers of the RSCs and relevant stakeholders dealing with marine NIS.

2 Work approach

2.1. Data gathering

The current activity aimed to analyse the trends of new NIS introductions per MS and MSFD marine subregion and their associated pathways. Towards this objective, relevant information was gathered by the JRC regarding the date of first record (= date of first observation in the field) of a NIS in each MS and MSFD subregion, as well as its related pathway of introduction.

The refined baseline inventories of NIS provided by Tsiamis et al. (2019) were used as the basis for this exercise. However, the following species were excluded from the exercise:

- > cryptogenic species listed in each MS (see Tsiamis et al., 2019);
- > questionable species listed in each MS (see Tsiamis et al., 2019);
- > parasitic species.

For the rest of the species relevant information was gathered by JRC concerning:

- > the date of first record of each NIS in each MS and MSFD marine subregion;
- > the associated pathway(s) of introduction of each NIS in each MS and MSFD marine subregion.

Data sources used were AquaNIS (2020), EASIN (2020) and scientific literature. For NIS introduced before 1970 in a specific MS and/or MSFD subregion no information on associated pathways was gathered. Retrieved information on the possible pathways of introduction was aligned to the categorization scheme of CBD (2014). When the relevant information on a NIS pathway for a specific MSFD subregion was impossible to be found, then expert judgment was applied by the JRC or the pathway was assigned as "Unknown".

All relevant information gathered was summarized in excel files, one for each MS, including instructions (Annex 1) supporting the validation of the information by the national NIS experts of the MSFD. All appointed experts to the MSFD D2 Experts' Network (updated after request email of 22.10.2019 to Marine Strategy Coordination Group -MSCG-, in copy to Working Group GES) were then invited to check and validate the relevant information compiled (e-mails to relevant experts sent on 06.11.2019). In addition, the appointed experts had the opportunity to annotate the baseline inventories of Tsiamis et al. (2019) (NIS found up to 31/12/2011), which were also distributed in excel file. Finally, the experts were invited to check and validate relevant information compiled for new NIS introductions per MS and MSFD subregion that occurred after the baseline timeframe, i.e. between 2012-2017 (e-mails to relevant experts sent on 12.11.2020).

By the end of 2020, 21 MSs delivered the national files with validated information; these are provided in:

- ✓ Annex 2: information on refined NIS baselines (NIS up to 2011) per each Member State and national part of the MSFD subregion. NIS with dates of first record and associated pathways given per each Member State and national part of the MSFD subregion are also provided (also for NIS found up to 31/12/2017).
- ✓ Annex 3: NIS with dates of first record and associated pathways given at MSFD subregional level (for NIS found up to 31/12/2017).

2.2. Workshop questionnaire

In preparation, aiming to facilitate the Workshop's deliberation and its effectiveness, as well as to facilitate discussions at national, regional and inter-regional level, a Questionnaire (Annex 4) was distributed to all members of the D2 MSFD Experts' Network and to the representatives of the RSCs and relevant stakeholders. The topics included in the Questionnaire were largely based on the outcomes of the exercise on data gathering of NIS information, carried out in support of the process towards the establishment of the threshold values for D2C1.

In total, 21 MSs, 2 RSCs and one additional stakeholder (Coalition Clean Baltic) provided feedback. The aggregated results of the Questionnaires are depicted in Annex 5.

2.3. The Workshop

2.3.1. Time, place and agenda

The Workshop was held exclusively online on 6-7 October 2020. The agenda is provided below (Table 1).

Tuesday 6/10/2020 09:00 Welcome (JRC) 09:30 Background work on D2 (JRC) 09:45 Updates on MSFD (DG ENV) D2 criteria implementation 10:00 geographical and time scale application unicellular plankton and parasites 11:30 - 12:00 Break 12:00 The EU IAS Regulation and marine NIS (DG ENV) D2C1 criterion implementation 12:30 NIS introduced through natural dispersal in criterion D2C1 13:00 - 14:30 Break D2 criteria implementation oligohaline NIS partly-native species in the same MSFD subregion 14:30 D2C1 criterion implementation cryptogenic species questionable species extinct species 16:00 - 16:30 Break D2C1 criterion implementation 16:30 inconsistencies in baselines of marine NIS 17:30 End of Day 1

Table 1. Workshop's agenda.

Wednesday 7/10/2020		
09:00	RSCs related work on NIS HELCOM UNEP-MAP OPSAR	
10:30 - 11:00 Br	eak	
11:00	D2C1 criterion implementation threshold values in criterion D2C1 monitoring bias	
13:00 - 14:00	Break	
14:00	<u>Secondary Criteria</u> D2C2 D2C3	
15:00 - 15:30 Br	eak	
AOB use of citizen-science data pathways assignment uncertainty dates of first record of NIS uncertainty other		
16:30	Sum-up and recommendations	
17:00 End of wor	kshop	

2.3.2. List of participants attended the Workshop

In total, there were 56 participants in the Workshop coming from:

- ✓ national NIS experts from 21 MSs;
- ✓ representatives from Regional Sea Conventions (HELCOM, UNEP-MAP, OSPAR);
- ✓ representatives from the European Commission (DG JRC, DG ENV);
- ✓ representative from European Environment Agency;
- ✓ representative from Coalition Clean Baltic.

3 Outcomes of the workshop

The discussion and eventual outcomes of the workshop were based on the Questionnaire's structure (Annex 4) and overall results (Annex 5), following the Workshop's agenda (Table 1). In more detail, the following scientific/technical topics related with D2 implementation were addressed:

Topic #1. Geographical unit for D2 implementation

Based on MSFD, "Descriptor 2, Methodological standards, Scale of assessment: Subdivisions of the region or subregion, divided where needed by national boundaries". Based on Tsiamis et al. (report under review), several MSs have applied D2 at: a) entire regional level (e.g. for FI: entire Baltic Sea), b) national part of a subregion (e.g. for DE: national part of the Great North Sea and Baltic Sea), c) subdivision of a national part of a subregion (e.g. for ES: north part of the national part of the Biscay Bay), and d) a combination of the above.

<u>Workshop's outcome</u>: Ideally, MSs should implement D2 in a consistent geographical unit, and the latter was agreed to be at the national part of the MSFD subregion (e.g. for PL it would be the Polish part of the Baltic Sea). However, the method followed in the national assessment needs to be coherent with that at subregional and regional levels to ensure coordination of efforts to tackle new introductions where needed. The Macaronesia subregion of PT can be an exception of the above, due to the sharp ecological and geographical differences between the Azores and Madeira. In the latter case, D2 can be implemented at the subdivision level (Azores, Madeira) of the national part of the MSFD subregion (PT part of Macaronesia).

Topic #2. Assessment period for D2 implementation

Based on MSFD, the assessment period covers a 6-year period measured from the reference year as reported for the initial assessment (EU 2017). For the majority of the MSs, the year of the initial assessment was 2012; thus, the subsequent assessment period would be the 6 years between 2012-2017. However, not all MSs reported the initial assessment in 2012. In the 2018 reporting, most MS reported as assessment period for D2 the period 2012-2017, while others the period 2011-2016, or even 2013-2018. In addition, when it comes to the new NIS introductions, it is argued that due to the time lags observed for reporting new NIS, there might be a need for additional available time between the year of the reporting of D2 and its assessment period.

<u>Workshop's outcome</u>: For consistency and harmonization reasons, the assessment period of D2 should be the same across MSs. The initial assessment of MSFD is the basis for determination of GES across all descriptors and the date of this assessment was for most MSs 2012. Logically, following the 6-year cycle, it was agreed that the next assessment should be due in 2018-2023. To be noted that in the 2018 MSFD reporting there had been long delays (e.g. several MSs reported by September 2020), giving extra time for MSs to finalize their reports and deal with the time lags of reporting new NIS. In time, all MSs would be able to streamline their reporting at the same timeframe: 2018-2023, 2024-2029, etc.

Topic #3. Unicellular plankton species in D2 criteria

Unicellular plankton species (phytoplankton) have high uncertainty regarding the native vs non-indigenous status in European seas. There have been scattered records across Europe, but no consistency in their treatment. In Tsiamis et al. (2019) baseline there was high variance of the number of phytoplanktonic species included in the inventories across the MSs, even between neighbouring countries, reporting either long lists of them or just a few or even none. Several countries chose not to include phytoplankton species in their NIS lists. Recently, Gomez (2019) and Gomez & Artigas (2019) argued that there is not enough evidence for tagging any phytoplankton species in Europe as non-indigenous. Tsiamis et al. (2019) suggested that unicellular plankton NIS should be treated with caution (e.g. flagged with high uncertainty) until further research clarifies their enigmatic status.

<u>Workshop's outcome</u>: There was a rather unanimous agreement for reporting phytoplankton NIS in D2 criteria, but not considering them when assessing against a GES threshold for the time being. The group agreed that there are large gaps in knowledge and relevant information, and that more work is needed on marine NIS of phytoplankton in Europe. A joined and coordinated revision of the current status of European NIS phytoplankton would be crucial and could contribute to D2 reporting obligations. To that end, the JRC invited the D2 NIS experts' Network to contact phytoplankton experts across Europe, aiming to set up a group of experts who could deliver this joined revision of phytoplankton NIS in European seas.

Topic #4. Parasitic species in D2 criteria

It has been argued that parasitic NIS should be omitted from MSFD D2 since from a legislative perspective they are managed under the Aquatic Animal Health Directive (2006/88/EC; EU, 2006) rather than the MSFD (Tsiamis et al. 2019). However, the Aquatic Animal Health Directive covers parasites on aquacultured animals, while there can be parasitic NIS found in non-aquacultured animals. Moreover, several MSs have included parasitic NIS in their D2 lists.

<u>Workshop's outcome</u>: The Aquatic Animal Health Directive is not enough to cover all parasitic NIS. Moreover, several parasitic NIS can have substantially high impact on the native communities. On the other hand, there are large gaps in knowledge and relevant information on parasitic NIS in European seas, taking into account also the lack of relevant experts and subsequently monitoring efforts needed to tackle this group. Overall, the group agreed that parasitic NIS should be reported in D2 criteria, but not considering them when assessing against a GES threshold, until further data comes to light. However, they might be considered for measuring GES at smaller scales (e.g. in a certain MSFD subregion) if available information is already sufficiently enough.

Topic #5. Oligohaline NIS in D2 criteria

Oligohaline (salinity between 0.5 and 5 g/l) waters (transitional waters) are under the realms of the Water Framework Directive (WFD). However, transitional waters were not defined in a consistent way across EU (McLusky & Elliott 2007). Tsiamis et al. (2019) baseline generally did not take into consideration oligohaline NIS. However, they were included by several MSs when these species have been also found in their coastal waters. These entail mostly the oligohaline (but also several freshwater) species found in the low saline Baltic Sea. Nevertheless, these species might be present in other MSs as well, but they were not listed in their inventories since they occur exclusively in their transitional and/or inland systems (e.g. Corbicula fluminea, Cordylophora caspia, Elodea canadensis, Elodea nuttallii).

<u>Workshop's outcome</u>: Overall, oligohaline species should be addressed in a fully consistent way at EU level. Transitional waters, under the realms of the WFD, were not defined in a consistent way across EU, as in some countries these were designated as coastal waters. This may explain why some freshwater species have been included in D2 assessments. Therefore, there is a need for better classification of transitional waters under MSFD vs WFD. The Workshop's participants concluded that oligohaline species should be included in the D2 assessments of a MS if the relevant species are found in coastal systems of the country. Moreover, under a broader scale, D2 assessments should include all NIS found in <u>coastal waters</u>, regardless their oligohaline/marine/freshwater status.

Topic #6. Partly-native species in the same MSFD subregion, in D2 criteria

Several species are native in some MSs while they are non-indigenous in other EU countries. These species are generally known as "partly native" (or partly alien) species. In exceptional cases, there are partly native species in the same MSFD subregion. For example, certain species are native in the Azores but non-indigenous in the Madeira and/or the Canary Islands (or vice versa), although all these areas belong to the same MSFD subregion (Macaronesia). This would result in a discrepancy when assessing the related information at the subregional level of the Macaronesia about the species status.

<u>Workshop's outcome</u>: The group agreed that for the sake of practicality this kind of NIS should be reported in D2 criteria but not considered when assessing against a GES threshold at the subregional scale.

Topic #7. NIS introduced from one infested area to another through natural dispersal in criterion D2C1

The primary criterion D2C1 measures "*The number of non-indigenous species which are newly introduced* **via** *human activity into the wild, per assessment period (6 years), ...*". It has been argued that NIS introduced exclusively through natural dispersal, from already infested areas of European seas, to other neighbouring areas (e.g. a NIS introduced from Lebanon to Cyprus through natural dispersal) should not be taken into consideration for defining GES based on D2C1. However, taken into consideration if there is evidence that the species is transferred also through human-mediated activities, such as shipping (Palialexis et al. 2015). Doing so, there

will be the possibility to manage such introductions and measure the effectiveness of management measures, which prevent NIS human-mediated introductions in a given assessment area. Several Lessepsian species fall under this category.

<u>Workshop's outcome</u>: The group made clear that these species are truly non-indigenous, and they should not be confused with range-expanding species or species introduced into Europe due to climate change. These NIS have been introduced into European seas through human-mediated activities. However, from already established populations in Europe they might be expanding through exclusively natural dispersal, from one European country to another. Nevertheless, it is challenging to prove that a NIS is secondarily spreading across Europe exclusively through natural dispersal and not also through other means (e.g. fouling, fishing nets, etc). The group agreed that these NIS should be reported in D2C1 application. However, there was a debate if these NIS should be also considered when assessing against a GES threshold based on D2C1. At the end, the Workshop's participants proposed that these NIS should be handled case-by-case for D2C1 based on pathways certainty, availability of data, and the impact caused by them. Moreover, it was highlighted that NIS included also in the Union concern list of the EU Invasive Alien Species Regulation 1143/2014 must be reported and considered for GES in D2C1 assessments. Finally, the group clarified that these NIS should be reported and considered for GES in the secondary criteria D2C2 and D2C3 if they are relevant.

Topic #8. Cryptogenic species in criterion D2C1

Cryptogenic species are species that cannot be demonstrably classified as native or non-indigenous in a particular region (Carlton 1996). A close category is the one of crypto-expanding species, i.e. those with no definite evidence of their native or non-indigenous status due to unclear mode of introduction from the native range: natural spread *vs* human mediated. Characteristic examples include *Palaemon elegans* in the Baltic and *Antithamnionella spirographidis* in the Mediterranean Sea. Due to the lack of data, it is common that NIS experts disagree on the status of cryptogenic species in a specific area. As a result, these species may be treated as non-indigenous in some countries, while in neighbouring countries they are reported as cryptogenic or even as native species. Moreover, the status of cryptogenic species can be altered in time, based on new available research data coming into light, thus changing their status. In the recent JRC data gathering on pathways and dates of first record of NIS in each MS and subregion, cryptogenic species were excluded. Similarly, cryptogenic species were not further analyzed in Tsiamis et al. (2019) baseline inventories, but they were simply listed in an annex.

<u>Workshop's outcome</u>: The group agreed that cryptogenic (including also crypto-expanding) species should be reported in D2C1 assessments but not considered when assessing against a GES threshold due to their high uncertainty. This approach should be applied in a coherent way across all EU MSs. In the light of new available evidence, these species might change their status in the future to "non-indigenous". If that will be the case, they will be considered when measuring GES in criterion D2C1.

Topic #9. Questionable species in criterion D2C1

Questionable species are those with unresolved taxonomic status or new NIS entries not verified by experts (e.g. records coming from citizen-science but not yet validated by experts, or records in technical reports without providing the necessary taxonomic evidence). In the recent JRC exercise on pathways and dates of first records of NIS in each MS and subregion, questionable species were excluded. Similarly, questionable species were not further analyzed in Tsiamis et al. (2019) baseline, but they were simply listed in an annex.

<u>Workshop's outcome</u>: There was a unanimous agreement to report questionable species in D2C1, but not considering them when assessing against a GES threshold based on D2C1. In the light of new available evidence, these species might change their status in the future to "non-indigenous". If that will be the case, they will be considered when measuring GES in criterion D2C1.

Topic #10. Extinct species in criterion D2C1

Several NIS have been reported in MSs several decades ago (even in the 19th century or before) but never recorded again in the wild in these MSs, and thus are considered as possibly extinct, presuming that these NIS did not survive in the new environment. However, it is difficult to prove if a NIS has been truly extinct from a marine area or MS due to monitoring difficulties and the continuum of the marine environment. In case a presumably extinct NIS is reported during the last assessment period from the same or adjacent area that was

originally reported in a MS, then it is questionable whether this record corresponds to a new introduction or to the "extinct" population that was apparently overlooked in previous years.

<u>Workshop's outcome</u>: There was a unanimous agreement that these species should be examined case-by-case whether they correspond to a new introduction in the area or not. The workshop's participants highlighted that these species should be investigated in terms of: a) dates of old records, b) continuity of records, c) body size of the species, d) difficulty in taxonomic identification, e) area's conditions and characteristics, f) monitoring effort and its continuity, and g) possible pathway of introduction.

Topic #11. Threshold values in criterion D2C1

Based on D2C1 "*The number of non-indigenous species which are newly introduced via human activity into the wild, per assessment period (6 years), is minimised and where possible reduced to zero. MSs shall establish the threshold value for the number of new introductions of non-indigenous species, through regional or subregional cooperation*". HELCOM (2018) has set the threshold value for D2C1 = zero new NIS in the assessment period (e.g. 6 years). OSPAR (2018) highlights that the relative change of the number of new NIS introductions seen over subsequent assessment periods (e.g. 6 years) can facilitate the specification of threshold values; however, OSPAR has not yet concluded in specific values. UNEP-MAP and the Black Sea Commission have not started yet the related work on setting threshold value for D2C1.

<u>Workshop's outcome</u>: The workshop's participants agreed that the most suitable approach for setting threshold values for D2C1 is to adopt the percentage reduction of new NIS, meaning that: a) the threshold is a quantitative measure, i.e. specific number of new NIS introductions during the assessment period for a specific MSFD region/subregion, and b) the number of new NIS introductions is defined based on a specific percentage reduction of new NIS occurred in this MSFD region/subregion compared to the average number of new NIS introductions that occurred in the previous 6-years cycle periods in the same area. A practical hypothetical example is displayed in Box 1.

Box 1. A practical hypothetical example on setting threshold values for criterion D2C1 (number of new NIS) based on the percentage reduction approach.

The percentage reduction is agreed to be 50% for a certain subregion, and during the last three 6-years cycle periods (18 years in total) the new NIS introductions occurred in that subregion were 30 taxa (thus the average number is 10 new NIS per one 6-year cycle). The threshold value should be the 50% reduction of the average number of new NIS during the selected 6-years cycle periods: 50% of 10 new NIS = 5 new NIS.

In conclusion, the threshold value is set at the number of 5 new NIS introductions for that subregion.

The group highlighted that:

- The exact value of percentage reduction should be decided at regional and/or subregional scale, based on the pathways pressure and level of monitoring coverage of each region/subregion. For example, for the Baltic Sea countries the percentage reduction could be 100% (thus, the threshold value of new NIS should be zero, such as in the case of the HELCOM approach).
- The number of the previous 6-years cycle periods, which will serve as the basis for defining the percentage reduction of new NIS should be ideally long, e.g. starting from 1970s. However, the exact number of the previous 6-years cycle periods should be decided at regional and/or subregional scale, based on the history of monitoring and pathways intensity in each region/subregion. Consequently, for MSFD regions/subregions that have not been efficiently monitored in terms of NIS during the previous decades, a shorter time span of 6-years cycle periods should be preferred.

The group finally remarked that the percentage reduction could be adjusted at regional/subregional scale in order to serve short-term and mid-term goals for D2C1.

Topic #12. Monitoring of marine NIS for D2

The monitoring of marine NIS differs across MSs. Only three countries have a monitoring scheme on marine NIS applied at fully national level (Figure 1). On the other hand, the majority of countries have a monitoring strategy

on marine NIS applied only at hot-spot areas of the country or they do not have a dedicated strategy on NIS at all. Hot-spot areas for NIS monitoring include mainly ports and aquaculture units (Figure 2). The focus of NIS monitoring include mainly the detection of new NIS and the measurement of abundance/coverage/biomass of established and/or invasive NIS (Figure 3). NIS-related data come mainly from various research projects and at a lesser extent from MSFD Descriptor 1 monitoring (Figure 4).





Figure 2. Hot-spot areas for marine NIS monitoring in EU Member States.



Figure 3. Focus of marine NIS monitoring in EU Member States.



Figure 4. Sources of marine NIS data in EU Member States.



Topic #13. Monitoring bias in criterion D2C1

It is generally accepted that as monitoring efforts increase in an area, more new NIS are detected. On the other hand, with low monitoring effort fewer new NIS are detected and GES can be achieved more easily, regardless of the actual situation. As a result, differences in monitoring of NIS introductions among MSs introduce a significant bias, affecting the assessment of D2C1 and in turn whether GES has been achieved against a specific threshold value.

<u>Workshop's outcome</u>: There is a need for dedicated and well-defined monitoring on marine NIS, which should be harmonized at least at MSFD subregional level. In addition, there needs to be a safeguard on a minimum monitoring effort. The group highlighted the below recommendations:

- Ensure harmonization of monitoring protocols and methods. Data obtained should be comparable across MSs, at least of the same MSFD subregion. Share and exchange of information on the current monitoring protocols.
- > The monitoring should be systematic in **space**, **time** and across **taxonomic groups**:
 - space: priority should be given to hotspot areas of marine NIS (e.g. ports, aquaculture units and marine protected areas);
 - time: temporal aspect of sampling and frequency (related to life histories and ecology of target groups) should be harmonized across MSs;
 - taxonomic groups: enhance the taxonomic capacity and number of related experts; promote the establishment of regional/subregional networks of experts to increase taxonomic knowledge on difficult taxonomic groups, including inconspicuous taxa that remain understudied (e.g. parasites, phytoplankton).
- > Arrange training programmes for monitoring techniques, protocols and species taxonomy. Link with universities that through MSc and PhD projects can increase human resources (students) working on NIS.
- > Consider e-DNA analysis as a supplementary tool in monitoring techniques.
- Citizen scientists through social networks (divers, recreational fishers, amateur conchologists) can provide data on new NIS as well as on the distribution of invasive NIS. However, there is the need for quality control.
- > Align with other research projects working on marine biodiversity.
- Keep NIS databases updated, harmonized and checked by experts, since these can constitute valuable working tools for D2C1.

Topic #14. Inconsistencies in baselines of marine NIS (Tsiamis et al. 2019)

Tsiamis et al. (2019) published the refined baseline inventories of NIS per MS and MSFD subregion, in collaboration with NIS experts appointed by the MSs. The refined baseline inventories constitute a milestone

for the D2C1 implementation, providing an improved basis for reporting new NIS introductions. However, after the publication of the baselines, several inconsistencies were reported by the MSs (MSCG meeting 2019).

<u>Workshop's outcome</u>: These inconsistencies were successfully addressed during the work process of the current report (data gathering exercise, questionnaire, workshop), in collaboration with the NIS experts appointed by the MSs (see Annex 2). The latter Annex contains the most updated and verified (by the NIS experts) baseline information for each MS. The baselines for each MS were merged at subregional level by the JRC (Annex 3). Still, there were a few inconsistencies of NIS observed, depicted in Table 2. These inconsistencies need to be addressed at subregional scale with the contribution of relevant taxonomic experts.

Table 2. Inconsistencies of NIS that needed to be addressed in terms of the non-indigenous/cryptogenic status in specific

 MSFD subregions.

MSFD subregion	Non-indigenous species with observed inconsistency	
Ionian - Central Mediterranean:	<i>Bursatella leachii</i> : treated as cryptogenic by IT, MT / as non-indigenous by EL	
Bay of Biscay and the Iberian Coast	Amphibalanus amphitrite: treated as cryptogenic by ES / as non-indigenous by FR, PT	
Greater North Sea	<i>Fucus distichus</i> subsp. <i>evanescens</i> : treated as cryptogenic by DK / as non-indigenous by SE <i>Hydroides elegans</i> : treated as cryptogenic by NL / as non-indigenous by FR	
	Fleurosigma simonsenii: treated as cryptogenic by DE / as non-indigenous by NL Fucus distichus subsp. evanescens: treated as cryptogenic by DK, DE / as non-	
Baltic Sea	indigenous by SE <i>Mya arenaria</i> : treated as cryptogenic by DE, DK, EE, FI, LT, LV, SE / as non-indigenous by PL	

Topic #15. Inconsistencies of marine NIS in future D2 reporting

There are high chances that inconsistencies of NIS at MSFD subregion level such as the ones of Topic #14 (i.e. certain species considered as NIS in several MSs but as cryptogenic or even native in other MS of the **same** MSFD subregion) would also occur in the future D2 reporting cycles, due to the high uncertainty of several species concerning their native or non-indigenous status.

<u>Workshop's outcome</u>: The uncertainty of these NIS should be tackled through sharing of data and the use of available sources and databases (e.g. Aquanis, EASIN, ESENIAS, MAMIAS, etc.). Moreover, taxonomic expertise should be explored through bringing together experts at subregional scale to address inconsistencies of marine NIS case-by-case and propose a solution by consensus. Still, this might not be enough for all problematic NIS, since experts might not reach a consensus for all such NIS. In this case, these NIS should be reported in D2 assessments in the next reporting cycles of D2, but they should not be considered when assessing against a GES threshold.

Topic #16. Secondary criterion D2C2

The criterion D2C2 concerns the "abundance and spatial distribution of established non-indigenous species, particularly of invasive species, contributing significantly to adverse effects on particular species groups or broad habitat types". The information provided on D2C2 by the MSs in the 2018 reporting was scarce (Tsiamis et al. report under review). The related parameters included the distribution, abundance and biomass of established NIS, as well as changes in their number of species, but in most cases no related quantified values were provided by the MSs. NIS included in the Regulation 1143/2014 on Invasive Alien Species must feed the D2C2 reporting. Similarly, species treated in the Aquaculture Regulation 708/2007 could also feed D2C2.

<u>Workshop's outcome</u>: The group agreed that MSs should gather more data on invasive NIS and apply D2C2. The application of this criterion would benefit from specified assessment methods and guidelines in order to clarify

how D2C2 could be assessed in a more efficient way. Moreover, the role of this criterion as a stepping stone for the application of D2C3 was highlighted.

Topic #17. Secondary criterion D2C3

The criterion D2C3 concerns the "proportion of the species group or spatial extent of the broad habitat type which is adversely altered due to non-indigenous species, particularly invasive non-indigenous species". The information provided by D2C3 should contribute to assessments of D1 and D6 of the MSFD. The MSs provided scarce information on D2C3 in the 2018 reporting (Tsiamis et al., report under review). For coherence with targets of the EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030, threatened groups of species of the IUCN Red List should be taken into consideration for the application of D2C3.

<u>Workshop's outcome</u>: The group agreed that MSs should gather more data on invasive NIS and apply D2C3. As in the case of D2C2, the application of D2C3 would benefit from specified assessment methods and guidelines in order to clarify how this criterion could be assessed in a more efficient way. References to the methods proposed such as the Biopollution Index (BPL; Olenin et al. 2007) and the CIMPAL index (Katsanevakis et al. 2016) were made. The workshop's participants highlighted the difficulties in assessment of this criterion, especially when it comes to the lack of related data. However, the group also flagged the importance of this criterion (together with D2C2) on trying to tackle invasive established NIS that have already a tremendous negative impact on the European seas. In addition, it was highlighted that the comprehensive assessment of D2 should take in consideration D2C3, i.e. GES related to NIS cannot be achieved when D1 or D6 are below GES due to NIS.

Topic #18. Other issues

Uncertainty of NIS information

The group highlighted the uncertainty of information related with pathways and the date of first record of a NIS into a marine area. To that end, related sources should be shared and exchanged. Moreover, NIS databases need to be updated, harmonized and checked by experts. For several NIS, expert judgment must be applied. The latter would benefit from groups of experts formed at regional/subregional scale.

When it comes to pathways of introduction, it was agreed to follow the terminology of CBD (2014), as revised by Pergl et al. (2020).

4 Conclusions

The MSFD Descriptor 2 implementation is characterized by a number of issues and uncertainties. These issues were tackled by the NIS expert group in a consistent way as possible, trying to find the optimum balance between scientifically acceptable standards and practical solutions with a policy perspective. The primary criterion D2C1 is of particular importance, since it is used to ensure consistency across the Union, and it is based on solid scientific data (new NIS introductions). The secondary criteria could also be important, since through them invasive NIS with tremendous impacts to the European seas, placing at risk marine species and habitats, can be addressed.

The current report summarizes and provides recommendations on a number of issues on D2 implementation, provided in Table 3.

Table 3. Recommen	ndations of the NIS expert	group on MSFD Descriptor	2 implementation and its criteria.

Level of issue	D2 issues	Recommendations
	Geographical unit	Applied at the national part of the MSFD subregion, with the exception of the Macaronesia subregion of PT.
	Assessment period	For all MSs and MSFD subregions the next assessment period should be due in 2018-2023.
	Phytoplankton NIS	Should be reported in D2 criteria, but not considering them when assessing against a GES threshold for the time being.
At Descriptor Level	Parasitic NIS	Should be reported in D2 criteria, but not considering them when assessing against a GES threshold until further data is available. They might be considered for measuring GES at smaller scales (e.g. in a certain MSFD subregion) if available information is already sufficiently enough.
	Oligohaline NIS	D2 assessments should include all NIS found in coastal waters, regardless their oligohaline/marine/freshwater status.
	Partly-native NIS in the same MSFD subregion	Should be reported in D2 criteria, but not considering them when assessing against a GES threshold at the relevant subregional scale.
	Inconsistencies of marine NIS	Group of experts at subregional scale should propose a consensus case-by-case for these NIS. In case a consensus is not reached, these NIS should be reported in D2 criteria, but not considering them when assessing against a GES threshold.
	NIS introduced from one infested area to another through natural dispersal	Should be reported in D2C1 criterion. Considering them for GES should be examined case-by-case, based on pathways' certainty, availability of data, and the impact caused by them. NIS included in the Union concern list of the EU Regulation 1143/2014 must be considered for GES in D2C1.
At criterion D2C1 level	Cryptogenic species	Cryptogenic (and crypto-expanding) species should be reported in D2C1, but not considering them when assessing against a GES threshold due to their high uncertainty.
	Questionable species	Should be reported in D2C1, but not considering them when assessing against a GES threshold.
	Extinct species	Should be examined case-by-case whether they correspond to a new introduction in an area (and thus addressed in D2C1) or have been overlooked.
	Threshold values	Adopt the percentage reduction of new NIS compared to the average number of new NIS introductions that occurred in the previous 6-years cycle periods. The dataset gathered (Annexes 2 and 3) facilitates the application of the adopted method and the discussion on setting threshold values. This process is proposed to be guided and handled by a European high-level group concerning D2, consisting of representatives of RSCs and the JRC (see also below). This group can decide on:

		 the exact value of percentage reduction at regional and/or subregional scale;
 b the number of the previous 6-years cycle periods, w serve as the basis for defining the percentage red new NIS, at regional and/or subregional scale. Monitoring bias Need for a minimum, dedicated and well-defined monimarine NIS, which should be harmonized at least a subregional level (more details can be found in page 17). 		the number of the previous 6-years cycle periods, which will serve as the basis for defining the percentage reduction of new NIS, at regional and/or subregional scale.
		Need for a minimum, dedicated and well-defined monitoring on marine NIS, which should be harmonized at least at MSFD subregional level (more details can be found in page 17).
At criterion D2C2 level		MSs should gather more data on invasive NIS and apply D2C2. The criterion D2C2 acts as a stepping stone for the application of D2C3.
At criterion D2C3 level		MSs should gather more data on invasive NIS and apply D2C3. The Biopollution Index and the CIMPAL index are mentioned. The importance of this criterion was flagged on trying to tackle invasive established NIS that have already a tremendous impact on the European seas.
Other issues	Other issues Introduction pathways terminology (2014), as revised by (2020).	

The above recommendations provide practical solutions aiming at a smoother and more efficient implementation of the MSFD D2 and its criteria at EU level. They constitute a solid operational output which can result in D2 assessments with more comparable data among MSs and MSFD regions/subregions.

When it comes to the policy-side, the experts' group call for a number of different categories of NIS to be reported in D2 assessments, pointing the need for the species to be labelled/categorised appropriately in the MSFD reporting by the MSs. It is proposed that these suggestions, together with the practical recommendations on D2 implementation (Table 3), are communicated to the MSFD Working Group GES and subsequently to the MSCG Group of MSFD. Moreover, they can serve as an input for revising the Art. 8 Guidelines.

Finally, the NIS expert group proposed for the establishment of a high-level group concerning D2, consisting of representatives of RSCs and the JRC, streamlining the EU level marine NIS work. The group's aims and responsibilities should include:

- 1. promote sharing of knowledge and exchange of information regarding NIS data, monitoring methodologies and approaches;
- 2. coordinate NIS strategies and avoid duplication of work;
- 3. contribute on setting threshold values at regional/subregional based on the percentage reduction approach;
- 4. resolve NIS inconsistencies among MSFD subregions and regions.

The establishment of the high-level group is expected to take place in early 2021.

References

AquaNIS Editorial Board, 'Information system on Aquatic Non-Indigenous and Cryptogenic Species. World Wide Web electronic publication', 2020, www.corpi.ku.lt/databases/aquanis; version 2.36+ (accessed 2020-08-16).

Carlton, J.T., 'Biological invasions and cryptogenic species', *Ecology*, Volume 77, Issue 6, 1996, pp.1653-1655.

CBD, *Pathways of introduction of invasive species, their prioritization and management. UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/18/9/Add.1*, Montreal, Canada, 2014, 18 pp.

EASIN, 'European Commission - Joint Research Centre - European Alien Species Information Network (EASIN)', 2020, https://easin.jrc.ec.europa.eu/ (accessed 2020-08-16).

EU, 'Council directive 2006/88/EC of 24 October 2006 on animal health requirements for aquaculture animals and products thereof, and on the prevention and control of certain diseases in aquatic animals', *Official Journal of the European Union*, Volume L328, No 14, 2006, pp. 1-43.

EU, 'Directive 2008/56/EC of the European Parliament and the Council of 17 June 2008 establishing a framework for community action in the field of marine environmental policy (Marine Strategy Framework Directive)', *Official Journal of the European Union*, Volume L 164, No 19, 2008, pp. 1-22.

EU, 'Commission Decision of 1 September 2010 on criteria and methodological standards on good environmental status of marine waters (2010/477/EU)', *Official Journal of the European Union*, Volume L 232, No 14, 2010, pp. 1-11.

EU, 'Commission Decision (EU) 2017/848 of 17 May 2017 laying down criteria and methodological standards on good environmental status of marine waters and specifications and standardised methods for monitoring and assessment, and repealing Decision 2010/477/EU (Text with EEA relevance.)', *Official Journal of the European Union*, Volume L 125, No 43, 2017, pp. 1-32.

EU, 'COM (2020) 380 final from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the regions on EU Biodiversity Strategy for 2030. Bringing nature back into our lives', 52020DC0380 - EN - EUR-Lex.

Gómez, F., 'Comments on the non-indigenous microalgae in the European seas', *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, Volume 148, 2019, pp. 1-2.

Gómez, F. and Artigas, L.F., 'Are there Invasive Planktonic Microbes?', *Journal of Marine Science Research and Oceanography*, Volume 2, No 2, 2019, pp: 1-14.

HELCOM, *Trends in arrival of new non-indigenous species HELCOM core indicator 2018. HELCOM core indicator report,* 2018, Available at: http://www.helcom.fi/baltic-sea-trends/holistic-assessments/state-of-the-baltic-sea-2018/reports-and-materials

Katsanevakis, S., Wallentinus, I., Zenetos, A., Leppäkoski, E., Çinar, M. E., Oztürk, B., Grabowski, M., Golani, D. and Cardoso, A. C., 'Impacts of invasive alien marine species on ecosystem services and biodiversity: a pan-European review', *Aquatic Invasions*, Volume 9, No 4, 2014, pp. 391–423.

Katsanevakis, S., Tempera, F. and Teixeira, H., 'Mapping the impact of alien species on marine ecosystems: the Mediterranean Sea case study', *Diversity and Distributions*, Volume 22, No 6, 2016, p. 694-707. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12429.

McLusky, D. and Elliott, M., 'Transitional waters: A new approach, semantics or just muddying the waters?' *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, Volume 71, 2007, pp. 359-363.

Ojaveer, H., Galil, B.S., Campbell, M.L., Carlton, J.T., Canning-Clode, J., Cook, E.J., Davidson, A.D., Hewitt, C.L., Jelmert, A., Marchini, A., McKenzie, C.H., Minchin, D., Occhipinti-Ambrogi, A., Olenin, S. and Ruiz, G., 'Classification of non-indigenous species based on their impacts: considerations for application in marine management', *Plos Biology*, Volume 13, No 4, 2015, e1002130; http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1002130.

Olenin, S., Minchin, D. and Daunys, D., 'Assessment of biopollution in aquatic ecosystems', *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, Volume 55, 2007, p. 379–394.

OSPAR, *CEMP Guideline: Common Indicator - Changes to non-indigenous species communities (NIS3)*, Paris, Agreement 2018-04e, 2018, 8 pp.

Palialexis, A., Tornero, A.V., Barbone, E., Gonzalez, D., Hanke, G., Cardoso, A.C., Hoepffner, N., Katsanevakis, S., Somma, F. and Zampoukas, N., *In-Depth Assessment of the EU Member States' Submissions for the Marine*

Strategy Framework Directive under articles 8, 9 and 10, Publications Office of the European Union, EUR 26473, Luxemburg, 2014, doi: 10.2788/64014.

Palialexis, A., Cardoso, A.C., Tsiamis, K., Alemany, F., Cheilari, A., Guerin, L., Hoppe, K., Kabuta, S., Mavri, B., Miossec, L., Ojaveer, H., Orlando-Bonaca, M., Ouerghi, A. and Tidbury, H., *Report of the JRC's Descriptor 2 workshop in support to the review of the Commission Decision 2010/477/EU concerning MSFD criteria for assessing Good Environmental Status for NIS*, Publications Office of the European Union, EUR 27714, Ispra, 2015, doi:10.2788/486618.

Pergl, J., Brundu, G., Harrower, C.A., Cardoso, A.C., Genovesi, P., Katsanevakis, S., Lozano, V., Perglová, I., Rabitsch, W., Richards, G., Roques, A., Rorke, S.L., Scalera, R., Schönrogge, K., Stewart, A., Tricarico, E., Tsiamis, K., Vannini, A., Vilà, M., Zenetos, A. and Roy, H.E., 'Applying the Convention on Biological Diversity Pathway Classification to alien species in Europe. In: Wilson JR, Bacher S, Daehler CC, Groom QJ, Kumschick S, Lockwood JL, Robinson TB, Zengeya TA, Richardson DM (Eds) Frameworks used in Invasion Science', *NeoBiota*, Volume 62, 2020, pp. 333–363. https://doi.org/10.3897/neobiota.62.53796

Srebaliene, G., Olenin, S., Minchin, D. and Narščius, A. 'A comparison of impact and risk assessment methods based on the IMO Guidelines and EU invasive alien species risk assessment frameworks', *PeerJ*, Volume 7, 2019, https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.6965

Tsiamis, K., Palialexis, A., Stefanova, K., Ninčević Gladan, Ž., Skejić, S., Despalatović, M., Cvitković, I., Dragičević, B., Dulčić, J., Vidjak, O., Bojanić, N., Žuljević, A., Aplikioti, M., Argyrou, M., Josephides, M., Michailidis, N., Jakobsen, H.H., Staehr, P.A., Ojaveer, H., Lehtiniemi, M., Massé, C., Zenetos, A., Castriota, L., Livi, S., Mazziotti, C., Schembri, P.J., Evans, J., Bartolo, A.G., Kabuta, S.H., Smolders, S., Knegtering, E., Gittenberger, A., Gruszka, P., Kraśniewski, W., Bartilotti, C., Tuaty-Guerra, M., Canning-Clode, J., Costa, A.C., Parente, M.I., Botelho, A.Z., Micael, J., Miodonski, J.V., Carreira, G.P., Lopes, V., Chainho, P., Barberá, C., Naddafi, R., Florin, A.B., Barry, P., Stebbing, P.D. and Cardoso, A.C., 'Non-indigenous species refined national baseline inventories: A synthesis in the context of the European Union's Marine Strategy Framework Directive', *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, Volume 145, 2019, pp. 429-435.

Tsiamis, K., Simona, B., Palialexis, A., Somma, F. and Cardoso, A.C., *Marine Strategy Framework Directive, Descriptor 2 Non-indigenous species, Review and Analyses of Member States' 2018 reports for Articles 8, 9, and 10,* Publications Office of the European Union, Luxemburg, (report under review).

List of abbreviations and definitions

	ation system on Aquatic Non indigenous and cryptogenic species
BPL	Biopollution Level index
CBD	Convention of Biological Diversity
ССВ	Coalition Clean Baltic
CIMPAL	Cumulative Impacts of invasive Alien species
DG ENV	DG Environment
DG JRC	DG Joint Research Centre
EASIN	European Alien Species Information Network
EEA	European Environmental Agency
EU	European Union
GES	Good Environmental Status
HELCOM	Helsinki Commission (Baltic Marine Environment Protection Commission)
IAS	Invasive Alien Species
MS	Member State
MSCG	Marine Strategy Coordination Group
MSFD	Marine Strategy Framework Directive
NIS	Non-Indigenous Species
OSPAR	Oslo and Paris conventions (for the Protection of the Marine Environment of the North- East Atlantic)
RSC	Regional Sea Convention
UNEP	United Nations Environment Programme
WFD	Water Framework Directive

AQUANIS Information system on Aquatic Non-Indigenous and cryptogenic species

List of boxes

List of figures

Figure 1. Monitoring strategy on marine NIS in EU Member States	5
Figure 2. Hot-spot areas for marine NIS monitoring in EU Member States.	5
Figure 3. Targets of marine NIS monitoring in EU Member States	5
Figure 4. Sources of marine NIS data in EU Member States.	6

List of tables

Table 1.	Workshop's agenda)
Table 2.	Inconsistencies of NIS that needed to be addressed in terms of the non-	7
inaigenoi	us/cryptogenic/native status in specific MSFD subregions	,

Table 3. Recommendations of the NIS expert group on MSFD Descriptor 2 implementation and its criteria ... 19

Annexes

species reported elsewhere.

Г

Annex 1. Instructions supporting the validation by the national NIS experts of the D2 MSFD Expert Network, on the information gathered by the JRC through the "*Data Gathering*" phase (see Section 2.1) including: the NIS baselines inventories, the date of first record (= date of first observation in the field) of each NIS in each MS and MSFD subregion, as well as its related pathway of introduction. These instructions were sent to the experts via email emails on 06.11.2019.

٦

Each excel file corresponds to the information relevant to a Member State.	
Excel Sheet #2 . Refined baseline inventory of non-indigenous, cryptogenic and questionable species for each MS and relevant MSFD ma subregion, based on Tsiamis et al. (2019). For several MSs, specific amendments were recently proposed by MS authorities and/or experts app to the inventory list of Tsiamis et al. (2019); these are highlighted with color:	arine olied
• excel cells highlighted in red: species proposed for exclusion from the baseline inventory of Tsiamis et al. (2019);	
• excel cells highlighted in green: species proposed for addition in the baseline inventory of Tsiamis et al. (2019).	
Note: Parasite species are also excluded from this analysis.	
Experts contribution: experts are invited to check and validate the above changes (if applicable). They are also welcomed to propose additic changes / revisions based on the most recent scientific findings. They should highlight these changes with yellow coloration and add their remains the excel column "Remarks by appointed experts (if applicable)".	onal arks
Excel Sheet #3 . Information on the date of first introduction and associated pathway for each NIS in the specific MSFD subregion and court the source of the relevant information is also provided as well as related comments. When associated information was impossible to be loc the corresponding cell was highlighted in blue color.	ntry. ated
Note: The information on date of first introduction and associated pathway(s) in a specific MSFD subregion was retrieved only non-indigenous species, but <u>not for cryptogenic and questionable species</u> which were excluded from the analysis. In addition, associated pathway(s) information was retrieved only for NIS introduced after 1970, and not for species introduced before 1 (the latter are highlighted in grey color and they were also excluded from the analysis when it comes to pathways).	for the 970
Experts contribution:	
1) experts are invited to check and validate the relevant information provided for the dates of first introduction and associated pathways." should highlight any changes/additions with yellow coloration. Experts are also welcomed to add comments/remarks in the excel column "Rem by appointed experts (if applicable)".	ſhey arks
2) experts are invited to provide a certainty score to each assigned pathway for every NIS, based on the scheme proposed by Tsiamis et al. (20)18):
A) High certainty (to be marked as P_HIGH): there is direct evidence of a pathway; this is the case e.g. for most intentional introductions Release in Nature: fishery in the wild - including game fishing) and in many cases of NIS entering through natural spread when there is d evidence of a gradual expansion.	(e.g. irect
B) Medium certainty (to be marked P_MEDIUM): a likely pathway can be inferred; the NIS appears for the first time in a locality where a path is known to operate. This applies to many species introduced e.g. by shipping ballast (Transport - Stowaway: ship/boat ballast water) of aquaculture contaminants (Transport - Contaminant: contaminant on animals - except parasites, species transported by host/vector). In m cases inference is based on known examples of introductions elsewhere for the same species, the biology and ecology of the species, the hab and locales it occupies in both the native and introduced range, and its pattern of dispersal (if known), e.g. for a fouling species frequently reco in/near ports, Transport - Stowaway: ship/boat hull fouling has been assumed to be the most probable pathway.	way r as nany itats rded

Annex 2. Information on refined NIS baselines (NIS up to 2011) per each Member State and national part of the MSFD subregion. NIS with dates of first record and associated pathways given per each Member State and national part of the MSFD subregion are also provided (for NIS found up to 2017).

can be inferred. Inference is based on the activities in the locality where the NIS was found and may include evidence on similarly behaving

Due to the high number of excel sheets, the information is directly provided through a web-link in the EASIN website (https://easin.jrc.ec.europa.eu/). The related information is also available on request by the JRC D2 team (JRC-EASIN@ec.europa.eu).

Annex 3. NIS with dates of first record and associated pathways given at MSFD subregional level (for NIS found up to 2017).

Due to the high number of excel sheets, the information is directly provided through a web-link in the EASIN website (https://easin.jrc.ec.europa.eu/). The related information is also available on request by the JRC D2 team (JRC-EASIN@ec.europa.eu).

Annex 4. The Questionnaire distributed (30.07.2020) to all members of the D2 MSFD Experts' Network and to the representatives of the RSCs and relevant stakeholders, aiming to facilitate the Workshop (6-7.10.2010) process and its effectiveness, as well as to facilitate discussions at national, regional and inter-regional level.

<u>Question #1</u>: Geographical unit for D2 implementation

Based on Tsiamis et al. (report under review), several MSs have applied D2 at: a) regional level (e.g. entire Great North Sea), b) subregional level (e.g. DE part of the Great North Sea for Germany), c) subdivision of a subregion (e.g. north part of Biscay Bay of Spain), and d) a combination of the above. Ideally, MSs should implement D2 in a consistent geographical unit, and the latter should be at (put a "X" in the appropriate answer):

a) entire regional level	b) national part of a subregion	c) subdivision of a national part of a subregion	d) a combination of the previous
()	()	()	()
comment (optional):	comment (optional):	comment (optional):	comment:

<u>Question #2</u>: Assessment period for D2 implementation

Based on MSFD the assessment period covers a 6-years period measured from the reference year as reported for the initial assessment (EU 2017). For the majority of the MSs, the year of the initial assessment was 2012; thus the assessment period would be the 6 years between 2012-2017. However, not all MSs reported the initial assessment in 2012. In the 2018 reporting, several MSs reported as assessment period for D2 the period 2011-2016, while others the period 2012-2017, or even 2013-2018. In addition, when it comes to the new NIS introductions, it is argued that due to the time lags observed for reporting new NIS, there is a need for additional available time between the year of the reporting of D2 and its assessment period. For consistency and harmonization reasons, the assessment period should be the same across MSs, at least at regional scale. For the next MSFD reporting due in 2024, the assessment period for D2 should be (taking also into account the time lags in reporting new NIS introductions) (put a "X" in the appropriate answer):

a) 2018-2023	b) 2017-2022	c) 2016-2021
()	()	()
comment (optional):	comment (optional):	comment (optional):

Question #3: Unicellular plankton species in D2 criteria

Unicellular plankton species have high uncertainty regarding the native *vs* non-indigenous status in European seas. There have been scattered records across Europe, but no consistency in their treatment. In Tsiamis et al. (2019) baseline there was high variance of the number of planktonic species included in the inventories across the MSs, even between neighboring countries, reporting either long lists of them or just a few. Several countries chose not to include plankton species in their NIS lists. More recently, Gomez (2019) argued that there is not enough evidence for tagging any plankton species in Europe as non-indigenous. Tsiamis et al. (2019) suggested that unicellular plankton NIS should be treated with caution (e.g. flagged with high uncertainty) until further research clarifies their enigmatic status. For the implementation of D2, unicellular planktonic NIS species should be (put a "X" in the appropriate answer):

a) reported and considered when measuring GES based on D2 criteria ()	b) reported but <u>not</u> considered when measuring GES based on D2 criteria ()	c) omitted entirely from D2 assessments ()	d) other ()
comment (optional):	comment (optional):	comment (optional):	comment:

Question #4: Parasitic species in D2 criteria

In Tsiamis et al. (2019) baseline parasitic NIS wer several MSs have included parasitic NIS in their D2	e omitted since from a legislative perspective they are 2 lists. For the implementation of D2 parasitic NIS spe	e managed under the Aquatic Animal Health Directiv cies should be (put a "X" in the appropriate answer):	e (2006/88/EC; EU, 2006) rather than the MSFD. However,
a) reported and considered when measuring GES based on D2 criteria ()	b) reported but <u>not</u> considered when measuring GES based on D2 criteria ()	c) omitted entirely from D2 assessments ()	d) other ()
comment (optional):	comment (optional):	comment (optional):	comment:

Question #5: Oligohaline NIS in D2 criteria

Oligohaline (salinity between 0.5 and 5/1000) waters (transitional waters) are under the realms of the Water Framework Directive (WFD). However, transitional waters were not defined in a consistent way across EU. Tsiamis et al. (2019) baseline generally did not take into consideration oligohaline NIS. However, they were included by several MSs when these species have been also found in their marine coastal waters. These entail mostly the oligohaline (but also several freshwater) species found in the low saline Baltic Sea. Nevertheless, these species might be present in other MSs as well, but they were not listed in their inventories since they occur exclusively in their transitional and inland systems (e.g. Corbicula fluminea, Cordylophora caspia, Elodea canadensis, Elodea nuttallii). In overall, oligohaline species should be addressed in a fully consistent way at EU level. For MSFD D2, oligohaline species should be (put a "X" in the appropriate answer):

a) generally included in D2 assessments ()	b) included in D2 assessments of a MS only if these species are found also in marine coastal waters of the country (e.g. Baltic Sea waters)	c) excluded from D2 assessments ()	d) other ()
	()		
comment (optional):	comment (optional):	comment (optional):	comment:

<u>Question #6</u>: Partly-native species in the same MSFD subregion, in D2 criteria

Several species are native in some MSs while they are non-indigenous in other EU countries. These species are generally known as "partly native" (or partly alien) species. In exceptional cases, there are partly native species in the same MSFD subregion. For example, *Haliclona simulans* is considered as non-indigenous in NL, but as native in the rest of the Great North Sea countries. This would result in a discrepancy when assessing the related information at the subregional level of the Great North Sea about the species status. Therefore, at subregional level, partly native species **of the same MSFD subregion**, such as *Haliclona simulans*, should be (put a 'X' in the appropriate answer):

a) reported and considered when measuring GES at subregion scale	b) reported but <u>not</u> considered when measuring GES at subregion scale	c) omitted from D2 assessments at subregional level	d) other
()	()	()	(,
comment (optional):	comment (optional):	comment (optional):	comment:

<u>Question #7</u>: NIS introduced through natural dispersal in criterion D2C1

The primary criterion D2C1 measures "The number of non-indigenous species which are newly introduced **via human activity** into the wild, per assessment period (6 years), ...". It has been argued that NIS introduced exclusively through natural dispersal from already infested areas of European seas to other neighboring areas (e.g. a NIS introduced from Lebanon to Cyprus through natural dispersal) should not be taken into consideration for defining GES based on D2C1, unless there is evidence that the species is transferred also through human-mediated activities, such as shipping (Palialexis et al. 2015). Doing so, there will be the

possibility to measure the effectiveness of management measures, which prevent NIS human-mediated introductions in a given assessment area. Several Lessespian species fall under this category. For the implementation of D2C1, NIS that have been introduced into a MS or MSFD subregion exclusively through natural dispersal should be (put a "X" in the appropriate answer):				
a) reported and considered when measuring GES based on D2C1 ()	b) reported but not considered when measuring GES based on D2C1 ()	c) other ()		
comment (optional):	comment (optional):	comment:		

Question #8: Cryptogenic species in criterion D2C1

Cryptogenic species are species that cannot be demonstrably classified as native or non-indigenous in a particular region (Carlton 1996). Usually, there is high uncertainty for the origin, biogeography and their pathway. Characteristic examples include *Palaemon elegans* in the Baltic and *Antithamnionella spirographidis* in the Mediterranean Sea. Due to the lack of enough data, it is not uncommon that NIS experts disagree on the status of cryptogenic species in a specific area. As a result, these species may be treated as non-indigenous in some countries, while in neighboring countries they are reported as cryptogenic or even as native species. Moreover, the status of cryptogenic species can be altered in time, based on new available research data coming into light, thus changing their status. In the recent JRC exercise on pathways and dates of first introductions of NIS in each MS and subregion, cryptogenic species were excluded. Similarly, cryptogenic species were not further analyzed in Tsiamis et al. (2019) baseline, but they were simply listed in an annex. For the implementation of D2C1, species that are considered by the NIS experts as cryptogenic should be (put a "X" in the appropriate answer):

a) reported and considered when measuring GES based on D2C1	b) reported but <u>not</u> considered when measuring GES based on D2C1	c) other
()	()	()
comment (optional):	comment (optional):	comment:

Question #9: Questionable species in criterion D2C1

Questionable species are those with unresolved taxonomic status or new NIS entries not verified by experts (e.g. records coming from citizen-science but not yet validated by experts, or records in technical reports without providing the necessary taxonomic evidence). These species are also known as "data-deficient", following Essl et al. (2018). In the recent JRC exercise on pathways and dates of first introductions of NIS in each MS and subregion, questionable species were excluded. Similarly, questionable species were not further analyzed in Tsiamis et al. (2019) baseline, but they were simply listed in an annex. For the implementation of D2C1, species that are considered by the NIS experts as questionable should be (put a "X" in the appropriate answer):

a) reported and considered when measuring GES based on D2C1	b) reported but <u>not</u> considered when measuring GES based on D2C1	c) other
()	()	()
comment (optional):	comment (optional):	comment:

Question #10: Extinct species in criterion D2C1

Several NIS have been reported in MSs several decades ago (even in the 19th century or before) but never recorded again in the wild in these MSs, and thus are considered as extinct; presumably that the NIS did not survive in its new environment. However, it is difficult to prove if a NIS has been truly extinct from a marine area or MS due to monitoring difficulties and the continuum of the marine environment. When a presumably extinct NIS is reported during the last assessment period from the same or adjacent area that was originally reported in a MS, then (put a "X" in the appropriate answer):

a) it should be considered as a new introduction	b) it should not be considered as a new introduction, the species should had been overlooked	c) the decision should be made species-by-species,	d) other
and measured in D2C1 assessment		based on the available data	()
()		()	

	()		
comment (optional):	comment (optional):	comment (optional):	comment:

<u>Question #11</u>: Threshold values in criterion D2C1

Based on D2C1 "The number of non-indigenous species which are newly introduced via human activity into the wild, per assessment period (6 years), ..., is minimised and where possible reduced to zero. Member States shall establish the threshold value for the number of new introductions of non-indigenous species, through regional or subregional cooperation". HELCOM (2018) has set the threshold value for D2C1 = zero new NIS. OSPAR (2018) highlights that the relative change of the number of new NIS introductions seen over subsequent assessment periods (e.g. 6 years) can facilitate the specification of threshold values; however, OSPAR has not yet concluded in specific values. UNEP-MAP and the Black Sea Committee have not started yet the related work on setting threshold value for D2C1. In overall, the threshold value for D2C1 could be:

A) zero new NIS introductions; such as in the case of HELCOM.

B) could be specified based on the number of new NIS introductions during the last 6 years (e.g. 10 new NIS), and this could be the threshold for new NIS in the next D2C1 assessment.

C) same as above (B), but based on the number of new NIS introductions <u>during a longer time span</u>; e.g. for the last 30 years and conclude in an average per 6 years (e.g. if 100 new NIS during the last 30 years / 5 assessment periods of 6 years = 20 new NIS per 6 years). Therefore, the threshold value could be equal to 20 new NIS for the next assessment of D2C1.

In your opinion, among the above options, the threshold value for D2C1 should be (put a "X" in the appropriate answer):

option (A)	option (B)	option (C)	other
()	()	()	()
comment (optional):	comment (optional):	comment (optional):	comment:

Question #12: Monitoring of marine NIS for D2 For your country, is there a dedicated monitoring scheme for marine NIS2 (put a "X" in the appropriate answer):					
a) <u>YES</u> , at full national level through a related network of sampling stations ()	b) <u>YES</u> , but only in specific subregions of the country through a related network of sampling stations ()	c) YES , but only in h	notspot areas of the country ()	d) <u>NO</u> dedicated mo	onitoring on NIS exists ()
		hotspot areas include (multiple choices can be marked):	ports () aquaculture units ()	relevant data on marine NIS come from (multiple choices can be marked):	MSFD D1 monitoring () various research projects ()
			marine protected ar ()	eas	other ()

		other ()	
Monitoring efforts on marine NIS in your country in	nclude (put a "X" in the appropriate answer: multiple choir	es can be marked):	
a) the detection of new NIS introductions	b) the spread of the established and/or invasive NIS	c) the measurement of abundance/coverage/biomass of established a	d) the impact of established and/or invasive NIS on and/or the native communities
()	()	invasive NIS	()

Question #13: Monitoring bias in criterion D2C1

It is generally accepted that as monitoring efforts increase in an area more new NIS are detected. As a result, differences in monitoring of NIS introductions among MSs introduce a significant bias, affecting the assessment of D2C1 and in turn whether GES has been achieved against a specific threshold value. Therefore, there is a need for dedicated and well-defined monitoring on marine NIS, which should be harmonized within and across regions. The monitoring should be systematic in space, time and across taxonomic groups, including inconspicuous taxa that remain understudied. The endorsement of similar monitoring schemes of species groups is essential (Tsiamis et al. 2019). Priority should be given to hotspot areas of marine NIS (e.g. ports), species and habitats protected areas Citizen science could be also used in monitoring new NIS introductions.

Do you agree with above? In your opinion, what is the priority for tackling the monitoring bias?

Please comment here:

Question #14: Inconsistencies in baselines of marine NIS (Tsiamis et al. 2019)

Tsiamis et al. (2019) published refined baseline inventories of NIS per MS and MSFD subregion, in collaboration with NIS experts appointed by the MSs. The refined baseline inventories constitute a milestone for the D2C1 implementation, providing an improved basis for reporting new NIS introductions. However, after the publication of the baselines, several inconsistencies were reported by the MSs (MSCG meeting 2019). These inconsistencies were successfully addressed in the ongoing exercise of the JRC on gathering information on dates and pathways of first introduction of NIS in each MS, in collaboration again with NIS experts appointed by the MSs (see excel sheets in Annex). The latter excels contain the most updated and verified by the experts baseline information of each MS. The baselines of each MS were merged at subregional level by the JRC (July 2020, see excel sheet # 1 in Annex). During the merging, the following inconsistencies were observed for the Greater North Sea:

	Please specify the status of the species for Greater North Sea (put a "X" in the appropriate column):		
Inconsistencies in species status in Greater North Sea	non-indigenous	cryptogenic	other
			-add comment-
Alexandrium minutum: treated as cryptogenic by DK, FR, DE / as non-indigenous by SE			
Coscinodiscus wailesii: treated as cryptogenic by BE, DK, FR, DE, NL, UK / as non-indigenous by SE			
<i>Fucus distichus</i> subsp. <i>evanescens</i> : treated as cryptogenic by DK, UK / as non-indigenous by SE			

Hydroides elegans: treated as cryptogenic by NL / as non-indigenous by FR, UK		
<i>Platorchestia platensis</i> : treated as cryptogenic by DE / as non-indigenous by SE		
Pleurosigma simonsenii: treated as cryptogenic by DE / as non-indigenous by NL		

<u>Question #15</u>: Inconsistencies of marine NIS in future D2 reporting

There are high chances that inconsistencies of NIS at subregion level such as the above of Question #14 (i.e. certain species considered as NIS in several MSs but as cryptogenic or even native in other MS of the **same** MSFD subregion) would also occur in the future D2 reporting cycles, due to the high uncertainty of several species concerning their native or non-indigenous status. In the next reporting cycles of D2, these species should be treated at MSFD subregion level as follows (put a "X" in the appropriate answer):

a) reported and considered when measuring GES at subregion level	b) reported but not considered when measuring GES at subregion level, flagged with high uncertainty	c) should not be reported at subregion level	d) other
()	()	()	()
comment (optional):	comment (optional):	comment (optional):	comment:

Question #16: Secondary criterion D2C2

The criterion D2C2 concerns the "abundance and spatial distribution of established non-indigenous species, particularly of invasive species, contributing significantly to adverse effects on particular species groups or broad habitat types". The information provided on D2C2 by the MSs in the 2018 reporting was scarce (Tsiamis et al. report under review). The related parameters included the distribution, abundance and biomass of established NIS, as well as changes in their number of species, but in most cases no related values were provided by the MSs. Quantification values of specified established NIS have been set only by R0, concerning the average concentration (biomass/water) of the species *Mnemiopsis leidyi* (Tsiamis et al. report under review). NIS included in the Aquaculture Regulation 708/2007 and in the Regulation 1143/2014 on Invasive Alien Species could feed the D2C2 reporting. In your opinion, regarding D2C2 (put a "X" in the appropriate answer):

a) MSs should gather more data on invasive NIS and apply D2C2	b) D2C2 should be neglected; focus exclusively on prevention of new NIS introductions	c) D2C2 should be revised in a future revision of the MSFD D2, by	d) other ()
()	()	()	
comment (optional):	comment (optional):	comment:	comment:

Question #17: Secondary criterion D2C3

The criterion D2C3 concerns the "proportion of the species group or spatial extent of the broad habitat type which is adversely altered due to non-indigenous species, particularly invasive non-indigenous species". The information provided by D2C3 should contribute to assessments of D1 and D6 of the MSFD. The MSs provided scarce information on D2C3 in the 2018 reporting; only EE provided related data, referring to the Biopollution level (BPL; Olenin et al. 2007) and the relative biomass/abundance of NIS in native communities (Tsiamis et al., report under review). Associated threshold values have been set by EE: for BPL \leq 1, and for the contribution of NIS in the native communities this should not be significantly higher than the average value from previous assessment period. For coherence with targets of the EU Biodiversity Strategy 2030, threatened species of the IUCN Red List should be taken into consideration for the application of D2C3. In addition, improved reporting for D2C3 could include species groups and broad habitat types of D1 of MSFD. When relevant, an explicit link between D2C2 and D2C3 should be made, to enhance the understanding of NIS impacts. In your opinion, regarding D2C3 (put a "X" in the appropriate answer):

a) MSs should gather more data on impacts of invasive NIS	b) D2C3 should be neglected; focus exclusively on	c) D2C3 should be revised in a future revision of	d) other
and apply D2C3	prevention of new NIS introductions	the MSFD D2, by	()
()	()	()	

comment (optional):	comment (optional):	comment:	comment:

Question #18: Any Other Business

Please write here any comment or topic you would like to raise in the NIS workshop of 6-7 October:

Annex 5. The results of the Workshop's Questionnaire (see Annex 4), which includes the feedback of 21 MSs, 2 RSCs and one additional stakeholder (Coalition Clean Baltic).

Due to the high number of excel sheets, the information is directly provided through a web-link in the EASIN website (https://easin.jrc.ec.europa.eu/). The related information is also available on request by the JRC D2 team (JRC-EASIN@ec.europa.eu).

GETTING IN TOUCH WITH THE EU

In person

All over the European Union there are hundreds of Europe Direct information centres. You can find the address of the centre nearest you at: <u>https://europa.eu/european-union/contact_en</u>

On the phone or by email

Europe Direct is a service that answers your questions about the European Union. You can contact this service:

- by freephone: 00 800 6 7 8 9 10 11 (certain operators may charge for these calls),
- at the following standard number: +32 22999696, or
- by electronic mail via: <u>https://europa.eu/european-union/contact_en</u>

FINDING INFORMATION ABOUT THE EU

Online

Information about the European Union in all the official languages of the EU is available on the Europa website at: https://europa.eu/european-union/index_en

EU publications

You can download or order free and priced EU publications from EU Bookshop at: <u>https://publications.europa.eu/en/publications</u>. Multiple copies of free publications may be obtained by contacting Europe Direct or your local information centre (see <u>https://europa.eu/european-union/contact_en</u>).

The European Commission's science and knowledge service

Joint Research Centre

JRC Mission

As the science and knowledge service of the European Commission, the Joint Research Centre's mission is to support EU policies with independent evidence throughout the whole policy cycle.



EU Science Hub ec.europa.eu/jrc

ScienceHub

f EU Science Hub - Joint Research Centre

in EU Science, Research and Innovation

EU Science Hub



doi:10.2760/035071 ISBN 978-92-76-32257-3